IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

FLORIDA INTEREXCHANGE CARRIERS ASSOCIATION, ET AL.,

Appellants

vs.

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION, ET AL.,

Appellees.

ato 3 MANTE FEB 6 1996 1) 17

OLDOR, AUFRENCE COURT

Anai Deputy Merk

CASE NO. 86,957

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT MCI TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

On Appeal from Final Order of the Florida Public Service Commission Docket No. 920260-TP

RICHARD D. MELSON Florida Bar No. 201243 HOPPING GREEN SAMS & SMITH, P.A. P.O. Box 6526 Tallahassee, FL 32314 (904) 222-7500

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case involves the implementation by Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company (Southern Bell) of a \$25 million rate reduction required by the terms of a Stipulation and an Implementation Agreement approved by Florida Public Service Commission (Commission). The issue on appeal is whether the Commission erred in its determination that the Extended Calling Service (ECS) which was implemented on 288 routes to effectuate that rate reduction is "basic service," rather than "nonbasic service," under the recently revised provisions of Chapter 364, Florida Statutes.

Background

This case is one of the final chapters in Southern Bell's transition from rate base regulation to price regulation. In 1988, the Commission approved a three-year Rate Stabilization Plan for Southern Bell. <u>In re: Petitions of Southern Bell for Rate Stabilization and Implementation Orders and Other Relief</u>, Order No. 20162, 1988 F.P.S.C. 10:311 (1988). Under this plan, which required Southern Bell to share with its customers earnings within a specified range, and to refund to its customers earnings above the top of that range, Southern Bell was granted more earnings flexibility than it had previously enjoyed under traditional rate of return regulation.

In 1992, after some interim extensions of the plan, the Commission initiated a proceeding to evaluate the results of the plan and to determine whether, and in what form, the plan should be

continued. As part of that proceeding, the Commission required Southern Bell to file the information necessary to conduct a full revenue requirements analysis of Southern Bell's operations under traditional rate base, rate of return principles.¹ (App. A at 3) The Office of Public Counsel (OPC) and a number of other intervenors, including MCI Telecommunications Corporation (MCI) and the Florida Interexchange Carriers Association (FIXCA) participated actively in that proceeding. That proceeding was ultimately consolidated with four other Commission dockets involving Southern Bell.

On January 5, 1994, Southern Bell and OPC filed with the Commission a Stipulation and Agreement (the "Stipulation") as a complete settlement of four of the five consolidated dockets. (App. A at 3) Under the Stipulation, Southern Bell would continue to operate under a modified version of the Rate Stabilization Plan, and would also be required to make various tariff changes and rate reductions totalling \$115 million in 1994, \$80 million 1995, and \$84 million in 1996. Except for \$55 million associated with the elimination of Touch-Tone charges in 1994, the Stipulation left the application of the required rate reductions to particular services

¹ The order on appeal, which sets out some of the history of this proceeding, is attached as Appendix A. It appears in the record on appeal beginning at R. 458.

to be decided by the Commission in future proceedings.² (App. B at 15, 17-18)

On January 12, 1994, Southern Bell and the other parties to the proceeding filed with the Commission an Implementation Agreement for Portions of the Unspecified Rate Reductions in the Stipulation and Agreement Between OPC and Southern Bell (the Under "Implementation Agreement"). (App. Α at 3) the Implementation Agreement, the parties agreed to the specific application of (i) an additional portion of the rate reduction for 1994, and (ii) portions of the scheduled rate reductions for 1995 and 1996. (App. B at 31-38) The Implementation Agreement also established the procedure under which the Commission would decide how to apply the remaining "unspecified" rate reductions:

> The PARTIES agree that the Commission shall conduct hearings to determine the rate design specifically by which the amounts not Stipulation and allocated by the this Implementation Agreement shall be disposed of in 1994 (\$10 million), 1995 (\$25 million), and 1996 (approximately \$48 million).

(App. B at 38)

Under the Implementation Agreement, proposals for the future unspecified rate reductions were to be submitted by interested parties not less than 120 days prior to the scheduled effective date of each reduction. (App. B at 38-39)

² A copy of the Commission's order approving the stipulation (Order No. PSC-94-0172-FOF-TL), which includes as attachments the Stipulation referred to in this paragraph and the Implementation Agreement referred to in the next paragraph, is attached as Appendix B. It appears in the record on appeal beginning at R. 1.

On January 18, 1994, the Commission voted to approve the Stipulation and the Implementation Agreement. (App. A at 3) This approval was embodied in Order No. PSC-94-0172-FOF-TL (the "Order Approving Stipulation"). <u>In re: Comprehensive review of the</u> <u>revenue requirements and rate stabilization plan of Southern Bell</u>, 1994 F.P.S.C. 2:238 (1994).

Current Proceeding

On May 15, 1995, Southern Bell filed its proposal to implement the \$25 million of unspecified rate reductions scheduled to take place on October 1, 1995. (App. A at 4; Ex. 1) Southern Bell proposed to convert 252 long-distance toll calling routes to Extended Calling Service (ECS). (See T 43) ECS is essentially a pricing plan under which traffic on long-distance toll routes is repriced on a per-message or reduced per-minute basis.

Under ECS, a residential customer pays a flat \$0.25 per call regardless of distance or call duration, rather than the distancesensitive, per-minute charges previously associated with toll calls. (T 47-48; Ex. 1 at 6) A business customer also pays a reduced per-minute charge of \$0.10 for the first minute and \$.06 for each additional minute. (T 48; Ex. 1 at 6)

Southern Bell estimated that the conversion of these 252 routes from toll service to the ECS pricing plan would result in an annualized revenue reduction of approximately \$43.5 million.³ (App.

³ The \$43.5 million figure is the number reflected in the Commission's final order. Southern Bell presented several sets of numbers that produce different revenue reduction estimates. The original filing contained a \$42.9 million estimate. (Ex. 1 at 1, 6) A subsequent exhibit to the deposition of Southern Bell's witness

A at 10) This amount is well in excess of the \$25 million required by the Commission-approved Stipulation and Implementation Agreement.

Other parties made competing proposals for the application of the \$25 million rate reduction, and the Commission scheduled a hearing on the proposals for July 31, 1995.

On July 28, 1995, three days prior to the start of the hearing, Southern Bell amended its proposal to include 36 additional long-distance toll calling routes in its ECS plan. (Ex. 5) The Commission found that the conversion of these routes would have an additional \$4.5 million revenue impact.⁴ (App. A at 10) Using the figures adopted by the Commission, the implementation of the ECS pricing plan on these 288 toll routes results in an overall projected revenue reduction of \$48.0 million a year. (App. A at 10)

At the hearing, and in the post-hearing briefing process, MCI and other intervenors opposed Southern Bell's ECS plan. One of the primary bases for the opposition was that approval of the ECS plan would effectively re-monopolize long-distance toll service along these 288 calling routes, on which long-distance interexchange carriers (IXCs) such as MCI and AT&T were currently allowed to compete. (T 295-6, 317-8) This re-monopolization would occur

Hendrix estimated the effect at \$3.614 million per month, which translates to approximately \$43.4 million annually. (Ex. 22, Item 1) And a Southern Bell interrogatory answer shows the effect to be \$44.7 million, <u>i.e.</u> annual toll loss of \$97.3 million less annual ECS revenue of \$52.6 million. (Ex. 7 at 23)

⁴ This compares to the \$6 million estimated by Southern Bell in its July 28, 1995 filing. (Ex. 5 at 1)

because Southern Bell's retail price for ECS service is lower than the wholesale price that Southern Bell charges to MCI and other IXCs for switched access service, which is a necessary input into the IXCs' "competitive" long-distance service.⁵ (T 297-9; see Ex. 20 at 1, 2)

The anti-competitive effect of this pricing relationship can be demonstrated by a simple example. Southern Bell estimates that the average duration of a residential ECS call is 4.2 minutes. (T 81, 111; Ex. 22, Item 2) The retail price for such a call is \$.25. Thus the average residential ECS revenue is less than \$.06 (T 48) per minute. (\$.25 / 4.2 = \$.05952) On the other hand, an IXC which carries the same call along the same route must pay Southern Bell switched access charges which total more than \$.07 per minute.⁶ This means that Southern Bell's retail ECS price is less than the wholesale access charge rate that Southern Bell's competitors must originating pay to Southern Bell for and terminating а

⁵ When a telephone customer makes a long-distance call using an interexchange carrier, the originating end of the call uses facilities of the calling party's local telephone company to reach the IXC. Similarly, the terminating end of the call uses the facilities of the local telephone company to reach the called party's premises. The IXC pays the affected local telephone company(ies) "switched access charges" on a per-minute of use basis as compensation for this originating and terminating service. Because the local telephone companies are the only firms with telephone facilities to the customers' premises, the use of their switched access service is an essential, monopoly input into the IXCs' long-distance service.

⁶ Southern Bell estimated that originating and terminating switched access charges would total \$.07152 per minute effective October 1, 1995. (Ex. 21) Using information in other interrogatory answers provided by Southern Bell, FIXCA's witness Mr. Gillan estimated that such access charges would total \$.0745 per minute. (T 299)

"competitive" long-distance call. As Mr. Gillan summarized the situation:

- Q. And would it also be safe to say that if ECS, if Southern Bell's proposal in this case were approved without taking the actions you have proposed, then there will be no competition on these 288 routes in question?
- A. Without a doubt. It just don't make any sense at all for any interexchange carrier or any competitive firm to go in and try and attract customers and provide them a better service or a high quality service, whatever, charge those customers 6 cents a minute and turn around and pay Southern Bell 7.5 cents a minute. It just doesn't work. You can't take in 6 cents and send out 7.5 cents and do it very long.

(T 316)

MCI and others contended that this pricing relationship violates the provisions of the recently enacted amendments to Chapter 364, Florida Statutes.⁷ In particular, MCI contended that this pricing relationship violates Section 364.051(6)(c), Florida Statutes (1995), which requires the price charged by Southern Bell to a retail consumer for a "nonbasic service" to cover, among other

⁷ Chapter 364 was substantially amended by Chapter 95-403, Laws of Florida, which took effect on July 1, 1995. These amendments, among other things, eliminate the monopoly over local exchange service effective January 1, 1996 in the territories of large local telephone companies, authorize the Florida's certification of alternative local exchange companies, and allow the incumbent local exchange companies such as Southern Bell to elect statutory price regulation as an alternative to traditional rate base, rate of return regulation. Southern Bell elected such price regulation effective January 1, 1996, the earliest date on which such an election could become effective. See, In re: Notice of election of price regulation by Southern Bell, Order No. PSC-96-0036-FOF-TL, 1996 F.P.S.C. 1: (January 10, 1996).

things, the price charged by Southern Bell to MCI for switched access, the monopoly component of MCI's functionally equivalent long-distance service.⁸

On November 8, 1995, the Commission entered Order No. PSC-95-1391-FOF-TL (the "ECS Order")⁹ in which it approved, with Commissioners Clark and Kiesling dissenting, the implementation of the ECS pricing plan on the 288 routes requested by Southern Bell as the method for making the required \$25 million rate reduction.¹⁰ (App. A at 4) The ECS Order expressly provided that competition would continue to be permitted on these ECS routes. (App. A at 4) In other words, IXCs can continue to carry long-distance toll calls on these routes. (App A. at 20-1)

The ECS Order further held that ECS on these routes constitutes "basic service" under the provisions of revised Chapter 364. (App. A at 7-8) As a basic service, the Commission held that the ECS pricing plan on these routes is not subject to the imputation requirements imposed by Section 364.051(6)(c), Florida Statutes (1995), on nonbasic services. (App. A at 8) In light of this holding, the Commission made no finding as to whether the

⁸ Southern Bell agreed that intraLATA toll service is the IXC service which will compete with ECS. (Ex. 20 at 1) Southern Bell also admitted that it intends to charge the IXCs tariffed switched access charge rates for originating and terminating longdistance toll calls along these ECS routes. (Ex. 20 at 2)

⁹ This order is reported as <u>In re: Comprehensive review of</u> <u>the revenue requirements and rate stabilization plan of Southern</u> <u>Bell</u>, 1995 F.P.S.C. 11:313 (1995).

¹⁰ The vote which was embodied in the order was taken on September 26, 1995.

retail prices for ECS service meet the statutory imputation standard.

On November 28, 1995, FIXCA filed its Notice of Appeal of the ECS Order. (R. 498) On December 7, 1995, MCI filed its Notice of Joinder as an Appellant.

By order dated January 8, 1996, the Commission denied FIXCA's and MCI's Motions for Stay pending appeal of the ECS Order, and delayed the implementation date for the 288 new ECS routes to January 15, 1996. <u>In re: Comprehensive review of the revenue</u> <u>requirements and rate stabilization plan of Southern Bell</u>, Order No. 96-0020-FOF-TL, 1996 F.P.S.C. 1: (1996). Southern Bell has now implemented ECS calling on the 288 affected routes.

Scope of Appeal

MCI's appeal does not seek review of the Commission's decision to use the establishment of ECS on these 288 routes as the method for implementing the required \$25 million rate reduction. Although MCI strenuously opposed this action at the administrative level, it did not prevail before the Commission and it was unsuccessful in obtaining from the Commission a stay of the ECS Order pending appeal. MCI recognizes that once the ECS pricing plan has been implemented on these routes, there are technical, practical, and political reasons that the former status guo cannot be restored.

MCI therefore is seeking review only of the Commission's decision that ECS is a "basic service" under Chapter 364, and hence is not required to meet the imputation requirements of Section 364.051(6)(c), Florida Statutes (1995).

STATUTES INVOLVED

The resolution of this appeal will require the Court to construe a number of provisions of Chapter 364, Florida Statutes (1995) that were added or amended by Chapter 95-403, Laws of Florida. The applicable portions of the revised statute are set forth below for ease of reference.

Section 364.02(2), Florida Statutes (1995), defines basic local telecommunications service as follows:

(2) "Basic local telecommunications service" means voice-grade, flat-rate residential, and flat-rate single-line business local exchange services. . . For a local exchange telecommunications company, such term shall include any extended area service routes, and extended calling service in existence or ordered by the commission on or before July 1, 1995.

Section 364.02(8), Florida Statutes (1995), defines nonbasic service as follows:

(8) "Nonbasic service" means any telecommunications service provided by a local exchange telecommunications company other than a basic local telecommunications service, a local interconnection arrangement described in s. 364.16, or a network access service described in s. 364.163.

Section 364.051(6)(c), Florida Statutes (1995), establishes an imputation standard which must be met by each nonbasic service provided by a local exchange telephone company, such as Southern Bell, which has elected price regulation:

(6) NONBASIC SERVICES. -- Price regulation of nonbasic services shall consist of the following:

* * *

(c) The price charged to a consumer for a

nonbasic service shall cover the direct costs of providing the service and shall, to the extent a cost is not included in the direct cost, include as an imputed cost the price charged by the company to competitors for any monopoly component used by a competitor in the provision of its same or functionally equivalent service.

Section 364.385, Florida Statutes (1995), contains two savings

clauses potentially applicable to this case:

All applications for extended area (2) service, routes, or extended calling service pending before the commission on March 1, 1995, shall be governed by the law as it existed prior to July 1, 1995. Upon the approval of the application, the extended area service, routes, or extended calling service shall be considered basic services and shall be regulated as provided in s. 364.051 for a company that has elected price regulation. Proceedings including judicial review pending on July 1, 1995, shall be governed by the law as it existed prior to the date on which this section becomes a law. No new proceedings governed by the law as it existed prior to July 1, 1995, shall be initiated after July 1, administrative adjudicatory 1995. Any proceeding which has not progressed to the stage of a hearing by July 1, 1995, may, with the consent of all parties and the commission, be conducted in accordance with the law as it existed prior to January 1, 1996.

(3) Florida Public Service Commission Order No. PSC-94-0172-FOF-TL [the Order Approving Stipulation] shall remain in effect, and BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. [d/b/a Southern Bell], shall fully comply with that order unless modified by the Florida Public Service Commission pursuant to the terms of that order. . .

(bracketed material added) It is these provisions that the Commission misconstrued in reaching its conclusion that ECS service on the 288 new routes is "basic service" and hence is exempt from the statute's imputation requirements.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case of first impression. It requires the construction of a number of provisions of Chapter 364 which were added or amended by the comprehensive rewrite of Florida telecommunications law contained in Chapter 95-403, Laws of Florida.

If Extended Calling Service (ECS) is, as the Commission concluded, a "basic service" under Chapter 364, then the price of the service is subject to the price cap provisions of Section 364.051(2), Florida Statutes (1995). If ECS is, as Appellants contend, a "nonbasic service" under Chapter 364, then its pricing is subject instead to the imputation and other requirements imposed by Section 364.051(6), Florida Statutes (1995).

The status of ECS service is answered by the plain language of the statute. Under Section 364.02(2), ECS on a particular route is basic service only if it was "in existence or ordered by the commission on or before July 1, 1995." ECS service was not in existence on the 288 long-distance toll calling routes at issue in this appeal on July 1, 1995. Its implementation was not ordered by the Commission until either September 26, 1995 (the date of the Commission's vote) or November 8, 1995 (the date of the ECS Order), either of which is well after the July 1, 1995 cut-off date. Thus ECS service on these 288 routes is not a basic service unless some provision of the savings clauses requires a contrary result. They do not.

Section 364.385(2) provides that "all applications for. . . extended calling service pending before the Commission on March 1, 1995" shall be governed by the prior law and, upon approval, "shall be considered basic services. . . " Southern Bell's application for extended calling service on 252 of the routes at issue here was filed on May 15, 1995, well after the March 1, 1995 cut-off date. Southern Bell's application for the remaining 32 routes was filed even later, on July 28, 1995. Since there was no application for ECS service on these routes pending before the Commission on March 1, 1995, such ECS service cannot acquire the status of "basic service" when ultimately approved by the Commission. It remains nonbasic service.

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