IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA INTEREXCHANGE
CARRIERS ASSOCIATION,

appellant,

Case No. 86,957

v.

SUSAN F. CLARK, etc., et al.

appellees.

Public Service Comm'n Docket No. 920260-TL

ANSWER BRIEF OF INTERESTED PARTY BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.

MAHONEY ADAMS & CRISER, P.A. William W. Deem Florida Bar No. 512834 3300 Barnett Center P.O. Box 4099 Jacksonville, FL 32201-4099 (904) 354-1100 (fax) 798-2697

COUNSEL FOR BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Order on Appeal implements one provision of the Settlement Order, the requirement that BellSouth implement \$25 million in unspecified revenue reductions by October 1995. The dispositive issue on appeal is whether the 1995 revisions to Chapter 364 impair or limit the Commission's ability to administer its prior Settlement Order. If the statutory revisions do not impair the Commission's ability to reduce BellSouth's revenues under the Settlement Order -- i.e. if the law in effect when the Order was negotiated and issued governs its implementation -- then the Order on Appeal must be affirmed. If, on the other hand, the Legislature did indeed change the rules in mid-stream, then this matter should be remanded because the Commission did not consider the new imputation requirements in deciding how to reduce BellSouth's revenues.

The new statutes do not limit the Commission's ability to implement the Settlement Order because they specifically provide that the prior law shall apply to these proceedings. First, section 364.385(3) specifically exempts the Settlement Order from the effect of the revised statutes, and the legislative history makes clear that this was intended to leave unimpaired the Commission's ability to implement and administer that Order. This only makes sense. The Settlement Order is a negotiated settlement balancing the public interest and the vast array of considerations important to all of the various players within this industry. It involves hundreds of millions of dollars in revenue reductions. It

would be absurd to hold BellSouth to these monetary requirements yet at the same time change all of the rules by which they are to be implemented.

Second, section 364.385(2) provides that proceedings pending on July 1, 1995 shall be governed by the prior law. The proceeding below was initiated and pending prior to July 1, 1995, and is therefore not subject to the revised statutes. True, a different portion of section 364.385(2) speaks specifically to exempting "applications for . . . extended calling service", but the proceeding below was not an "application" for extended calling service; it was a proceeding to determine how to reduce BellSouth's revenues and thereby implement the terms of the Settlement Order.

The Commission's construction of section 364.385 is a reasonable one. It is consistent with both the literal terms of the statute and the legislative history. It also comports with logic and reason. The courts afford great weight to an agency's reasonable construction of the law it administers, and this Court should do so here. Prior law governs this proceeding and the Order on Appeal must therefore be affirmed.

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

By this appeal MCI and FIXCA seek to obtain a competitive advantage at the expense of Florida's ratepayers. Despite having already benefitted from other BellSouth revenue reductions -- to the tune of BellSouth's \$155 million switched access charge reductions in 1994 and 1995 -- Appellants now contend that the Commission must implement BellSouth's remaining unspecified revenue

reductions in a manner that will <u>increase</u> the rates to be paid by BellSouth's ratepayers simply to improve Appellants' competitive position. The Court should reject this claim out of hand.

I. The Instant Proceeding Is Governed By the Law Extant When The Settlement Order Was Issued, And Is Not Subject To The Imputation Requirement Of The 1995 Statutory Revisions

Neither MCI nor FIXCA challenge the Commission's decision under the Settlement Order to reduce BellSouth's revenues by implementing ECS routes. MCI and FIXCA claim only that if ECS routes are to be created, the 1995 legislative amendments require that they be classified as a "non-basic" service which must meet the "imputation" requirement of section 364.051(6)(c); a limitation that did not exist when the Settlement Order was issued. (See MCI Brief at 9; FIXCA Brief at 4, 9) Because it held that the 1995 amendments were inapplicable to this proceeding, the Commission held that the ECS routes at issue were "local" rather than "non-basic" service, and specifically declined to consider whether the ECS routes met the new imputation requirement. The dispositive issue on appeal, then, is what law applies, the new or the old?

This Court must determine whether the Commission's continued oversight and implementation of the Settlement Order in BellSouth's Rate Case -- which remains an open, ongoing docket from well prior to the statutory revisions -- remains subject to the laws extant when the Order was issued or whether the Settlement Order is now limited by the law as recently revised. As shown below, the answer is clearly the former and the Order on Appeal must be affirmed.

The general rule is that substantive statutory revisions apply prospectively only, while procedural or clarifying revisions will apply retroactively, to matters already pending. See Rothermel v. Fla. Parole and Probation Comm'n, 441 So.2d 663, 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). A "savings clause", however, is a device by which the legislature specifically exempts certain matters from retroactive application of the new law. When a new law contains a savings clause, it is generally presumed that, be it substantive or procedural, the legislature intended the new law to have retroactive effect except as specifically provided by the savings clause. See generally Carpenter v. Florida Central Credit Union, 369 So.2d 935 (Fla. 1979).

The 1995 amendments to Chapter 364 contain a savings clause. See § 364.385, FLA. STAT. (1995). Therefore, the revised statutes should apply here unless this matter falls within the terms of the savings clause. As detailed in the following sections, these proceedings are exempted from application of the new statutes by not one but two provisions of the savings clause, and the Order should therefore be affirmed.

A. The proceedings below were exempted from the requirements of the 1995 amendments by the savings clause in section 364.385(3).

The proceeding below was not a discrete, insular undertaking, initiated in a vacuum. It was not initiated for the purpose of creating ECS routes. This proceeding was a part of the Commission's implementation of the Rate Case Settlement Order, and it must be viewed in that context. The proceeding below was

initiated for the express and sole purpose of determining how BellSouth's revenues would be reduced by \$25 million in 1995, as required by the Settlement Order. ECS routes were but one of three separate proposals by which this could be accomplished. Accordingly, the question is not whether the new statutes' savings clause encompasses ECS proceedings, but whether the savings clause encompasses the Commission's administration of the Settlement Order and the means by which it reduces BellSouth's revenues under the terms of that Order. Viewed in this light, it is obvious that the prior version of Chapter 364 must govern these proceedings.

The Settlement Order comprised a negotiated, highly structured vehicle for reducing the amount paid by BellSouth's ratepayers, directly or indirectly, by hundreds of millions of dollars over a total of three years. It was (and remains) a massive undertaking which had to address the varied concerns of a large number of diverse parties, and clearly had to address them in the context of the legislative and regulatory framework then in existence. It is absurd to suggest that this framework -- the rules which all parties had in mind when they negotiated a settlement worth hundreds of millions of dollars, and the rules pursuant to which the first half of the settlement has already been implemented -- should now be changed in mid-stream.

The legislature certainly did not intend for that to be the case. The 1995 amendments specifically provide that the Settlement Order, and the Commission's responsibility to oversee and implement

that Order, shall remain unchanged until the end of the settlement term:

Florida Public Service Commission Order No. PSC-94-0172-FOF-TL shall remain in effect, and BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc., shall fully comply with that order unless modified by the Florida Public Service Commission pursuant to the terms of that order.

§ 364.385(3), FLA. STAT. (1995). The Senate Committee staff report makes clear that this was intended to exempt the Commission's continued "duties and responsibilities" under the Settlement Order from the effect of the new law:

The Legislature should state that the provisions in the bill do not preclude enforcement of the Southern Bell settlement agreement or affect the duties and responsibilities of the FPSC or the Public Counsel under that agreement.

Staff Report, Senate Committee on Commerce and Economic Opportunities, at 19 (emphasis added). See Also Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, April 6, 1995, at 10.14 One of those "duties and responsibilities" is to determine the means by which BellSouth shall reduce its revenues as required by the Settlement Order, and the proceeding below was initiated specifically and solely for that purpose. It is therefore clear

¹⁴The Staff Report and the Analysis and Economic Impact Statement are attached as Appendix Exhibits B and C, respectively. This kind of legislative history is appropriately considered on appeal, and is accorded "significant respect" by Florida courts. Ellsworth v. Insurance Co. of North America, 508 So.2d 395 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

that the proceeding below falls <u>directly</u> within section 364.385(3), and the Commission reasonably so held. (Order at 5-6, 8)

An agency's reasonable construction of the statute it enforces is entitled to great weight and deference. <u>PW Ventures, Inc. v. Nichols</u>, 533 So.2d 281, 283 (Fla. 1988); <u>Public Employees Relations Comm'n v. Dade County Police Benevolent Association</u>, 467 So.2d 987, 989 (Fla. 1985); <u>International Association of Machinists v. Tucker</u>, 652 So.2d 842, 843 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). It cannot be overturned unless shown to be <u>clearly erroneous</u>. <u>PW Ventures</u>, 533 So.2d at 283; <u>International Association of Machinists</u>, 652 So.2d at 843. That the Appellants can not do. As shown above, the Commission's construction of section 364.385(3) is not just a reasonable one; it is the appropriate construction. Accordingly, this Court should defer to the Commission's informed, reasonable construction of its own statute, and affirm the Order on Appeal.

FIXCA attempts to avoid the clear import of section 364.385(3) by pointing to the definition of a "basic local telecommunications service" in newly revised section 364.02(2). The Commission held the ECS routes at issue to be a local service under its previously established policy. FIXCA points out, however, that this is inconsistent with the new statutory definition, which provides that ECS routes installed after July 1, 1995 (the effective date of the new statutes) are to be considered "non-basic". This circular

¹⁵Indeed, as the Commission noted, if the Settlement Order was truly subject to the newly revised statutes, the Commission would be substantially hindered in implementing it because the new statutes reduce the Commission's ability to require revenue reduction measures. (Order at 5)

logic adds nothing to the required statutory analysis; it simply begs the question. If the newly revised statute applies then, yes, ECS routes should be considered non-basic and their rate structure should be construed in light of the imputation requirements of section 364.051(6)(c). The question remains, however, does the revised Chapter 364 apply? As shown above, in this case, it does not.

FIXCA also contends that the Commission's order "permanently exempt[s] ECS from the new law's requirements". (FIXCA Brief at 15) That is simply wrong. The Order below announces the Commission's well-grounded opinion that its implementation of the Settlement Order's revenue reductions is not constrained by the new law. There is one unspecified rate reduction left to be implemented. Whether all or part of that reduction may take the form of ECS routes is unknown at this time¹⁶, but it is clear that the Commission did not hold that ECS, generically, is exempted from the provisions of the new law.¹⁷

¹⁶In the Southeast Florida LATA alone there are well over 600 BellSouth routes not subject to ECS. (Order at 12) None of those routes is at issue in these proceedings.

¹⁷MCI makes a similar argument, pointing to the fact that the ECS revenue reductions approved have an estimated impact of \$48 million, well over the \$25 million required by the Settlement Order. MCI cautions that BellSouth could implement its remaining revenue reductions to "monopolize long distance service throughout its territory", presumably by implementing more ECS routes than are required. This is wrong. The estimated impact of the ECS routes at issue here is an <u>unstimulated</u> impact. (Order at 10) Implementation of the ECS routes will have a revenue stimulation effect which will temper the actual revenue reduction.

MCI's arguments are similarly flawed. MCI claims in essence that a portion of section 364.385(2) is more specific that section 364.385(3), and therefore under the maxim of statutory construction that the specific controls the general, section 364.385(2) controls. The portion of section 364.385(2) upon which MCI focuses provides:

All applications for extended area service, routes, or extended calling service pending before the commission on March 1, 1995, shall be governed by the law as it existed prior to July 1, 1995 [the date of the statutory revisions].

§ 364.385(2), FLA. STAT. (1995). MCI contends that the reference to ECS routes in this statute is more specifically applicable to the proceeding below than is section 364.385(3). The proceeding below, however, was not initiated to adjudicate an "application" for ECS routes; it was initiated to determine how BellSouth's revenues would be reduced under the Settlement Order. ECS routes were just one of three proposals proffered. MCI's focus on the fact that the proceedings involved ECS thus focuses on minutia rather than the operative issue. The proceedings below were about the Settlement Order and section 364.385(3) deals specifically with the Settlement Order. Section 364.385(3) is the more specifically applicable section, and it primes the more generic reference to ECS applications in section 364.385(2).18

¹⁸Furthermore, the portion of section 364.385(2) upon which Appellants rely pertains to "applications" for ECS service. As discussed in the following section, the proceedings below do not involve such an "application". The following section demonstrates that even if section 364.385(3) were not controlling, a different clause in section 364.385(2) would apply instead of the clause pertaining to "applications" for ECS, and would exempt the

The Appellants would allow the Commission to continue to implement the revenue reductions, but would limit its options according to a new regulatory scheme which was not in the parties contemplation when the Settlement Order was negotiated and issued, and which is motivated by considerations entirely distinct from those which shaped the settlement. As shown above, this argument contravenes the clear legislative intent not to impact the administration of the Settlement Order. For this reason, the appeal should be rejected and the Order on Appeal affirmed.

B. Even if section 364.385(3) did not apply, the proceedings below were exempted from operation of the new statutes by section 364.385(2).

Even assuming section 364.385(3) does not apply (though it clearly does), section 364.385(2) requires that the proceeding below be governed by the prior statutes.

Section 364.385(2) contains two provisions potentially applicable below. First, "applications" for extended area services, including ECS, will be governed by the prior statutes if filed on or before March 1, 1995, and by the revised statutes if filed after that date. Second, "proceedings" initiated prior to July 1, 1995 will be governed by the prior statutes, while proceedings initiated after that date will be governed by the revised statutes. See § 364.385(2), FLA. STAT. (1995). The

proceeding below from operation of the revised statutes. As between sections 364.385(2) and (3), however, it goes without saying that the reference in sub-section (2) to "applications" for ECS cannot apply more specifically to this matter than sub-section (3) if it does not apply at all.

proceeding below was initiated well prior to July 1, but ECS was not specifically proposed until after March 1. Therefore, if the latter section controls then the statutory revisions are inapplicable and the Order below must be affirmed, because the proceedings below were initiated well prior to July 1, 1995. If the former provision controls, however, then the revised statute applies and the case should be remanded for consideration of the imputation requirement.

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